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Cambridge at a Glance 

A MODERN AND INCLUSIVE CITY 

Cambridge is a modern, inclusive 

city with a rich architectural heritage 

providing a window to the past. Made 

up of the former communities of 

Galt, Preston, Hespeler and Blair, the 

economic diversity, natural beauty, 

and vibrant culture have helped to 

make Cambridge the second largest 

community within the fast-growing 

Waterloo Region. 
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PROPERTY VALUES 

The average household 
assessment value used to 
calculate property taxes sits at 
$321,700. 

POPULATION 

A 2019 year-end population of 

136,810 within an estimated 

49,920 households. 

WORKFORCE 

Cambridge continues to build 

a skilled and diverse workforce 

of more than 77,500 and more 

than 11,473 businesses. 

INTERNATIONAL ACCESS 

Just 50 minutes to Toronto 

Pearson International Airport 

and minutes to Region of 

Waterloo International Airport. 

LOGISTICS 

Convenient access to Highway 

401 for ready access to major 

cities throughout Canada and 

the United States. 
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     Cambridge City Council 

BACK ROW LEFT TO RIGHT: COUNCILLOR FRANK MONTEIRO*, COUNCILLOR MIKE DEVINE, COUNCILLOR SHANNON ADSHADE, COUNCILLOR NICHOLAS ERMETA, 

COUNCILOR MIKE MANN, COUNCILLOR JAN LIGGETT. 

FRONT ROW LEFT TO RIGHT: COUNCILLOR DONNA REID, MAYOR KATHRYN MCGARRY, COUNCILLOR PAM WOLF. 

*COUNCILLOR FRANK MONTEIRO PASSED AWAY ON OCTOBER 15, 2019. COUNCILLOR MONTEIRO SERVED THE CONSTITUENTS OF WARD 7 SINCE 2010 AND WILL 

BE FONDLY REMEMBERED FOR HIS MANY CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE CITY OF CAMBRIDGE. 

GET TO KNOW YOUR 2018-2022 ELECTED COUNCIL 

The City of Cambridge is governed by an elected Council of nine members: the 

Mayor and eight Councillors who serve a four-year term. 

The Mayor and Council are responsible for developing a long-range vision for 

the future of the community. Council establishes policies that affect the overall 

operation of the community and are responsive to residents’ needs and wishes. 

To ensure that these policies are carried out and that the entire community 

receives equitable service, Council appoints a City Manager who is directly 

responsible for the City’s administration. 
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City Administrative Structure 

The Corporate Leadership Team is led by the 

City Manager and includes the Deputy City 

Managers of each City department. 

The Corporate Leadership Team is 

responsible for implementing the direction 

set out by City Council, including the 

provision for high quality, community-

focused services, overseeing the responsible 

and sustainable management of resources 

and monitoring progress. 

In recognition of the direction provided by 

the strategic plan, the Corporate Leadership 

Team is committed to implementing the 

goals and objectives outlined under each 

of the themes People, Place and Prosperity 

based on the City’s corporate core values of 

Integrity, Respect, Inclusiveness and Service. 

MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

KATHRYN MCGARRY 

MAYOR 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 

DAVID CALDER 

CITY MANAGER 

CORPORATE SERVICES 

Clerks Services 

Financial Services 

Fire Services 

Human Resources 

Technology Services 

Corporate Communications 

Legal Services 

CHERYL ZAHNLEITER 

DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 

DAVE BUSH 

DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 

HARDY BROMBERG 

DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 

CORPORATE ENTERPRISE 

Asset & Project Management 

Corporate Strategy 

Economic Development 

Risk Management 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Building Services 

Engineering & Transportation 

Parks, Recreation & Culture 

Planning Services 

Public Works 
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Message from the Mayor 

It’s been a very busy year for our city, our region, and for myself as a new mayor. 

We’ve seen exciting new projects moving forward at the City, from a decision on the new Cambridge 

Recreation Complex to the creation of the Core Area Transformation Fund. 

Our local economy and private investment remain strong. In 2019, we attracted new developments 

and businesses, as well as marked the groundbreaking of the Gaslight District and the opening of 

Tapestry Hall – an incredible new dynamic event space located in the heart of it. 

Our city continues to be a magnet for film crews and we were nominated for a film location award. 

Conestoga College announced that they are creating the largest trade school in Canada right here in 

Cambridge. 

As your Mayor, I’ve had the privilege of attending and taking part in more than 400 events in our 

community, and represented our city at meetings and discussions at the regional, provincial, and 

federal levels. 

All too often the citizens of Cambridge do not see the work that staff do behind the scenes on their 

behalf. In my first year here as Mayor – I can safely say that throughout our organization, we have 

dedicated and committed public servants. Staff, along with Council and the community, are working 

hard to deliver solid results to make Cambridge the best possible place to work and live in southern 

Ontario. 

As you see in these pages, 2019 was a significant year for the City of Cambridge and we are well-

poised for an even better year ahead. 

Together, I believe we will keep building on our strong foundation and attracting new families and 

new businesses to our great city. 

I’m looking forward to continuing to work with you. 

Kathryn McGarry 

Mayor 
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Who Does What? Services Overview 

UNDERSTANDING MUNICIPAL VS. REGIONAL SERVICES 

In addition to federal and provincial services, Cambridge residents and 

businesses receive services from two levels of government: The City of 

Cambridge and the Region of Waterloo.  Below is an outline of the general 

services provided by the City and Regional levels of government. 

CITY OF CAMBRIDGE 
COMMUNITY WELLBEING 

Accessibility and diversity services, Ambassador 
Program, animal control, bylaw enforcement, city-
wide emergency planning, crossing guards, fire 
services, libraries – Idea Exchange, older adult 
services, youth programs. 

GOVERNANCE AND LEADERSHIP 

Corporate administration, corporate finance, risk 
management, Service Cambridge, technology 
services. 

ARTS, CULTURE, HERITAGE AND ARCHITECTURE 

Arts and culture programs, art centres, heritage 

conservation, policy planning, special events. 

ENVIRONMENT AND RIVERS 

Environmental planning, forestry and horticulture 
services, natural areas, parks, trail maintenance. 

PARKS AND RECREATION 

Aquatics, arenas, bike and skate parks, Cambridge 
Farmers’ Market, cemeteries, community centres, 
day camps, playgrounds, pools, recreation 
programs, splash pads, sports fields. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM 

Building permits and inspections, business 
attraction and retention, business licensing, 
employment land development, planning services, 
tourism promotion, visitor information. 

TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

Asset management, engineering services, facilities 
management, parking management, roads and 
winter maintenance, sidewalk maintenance, 
storm water, street lighting, traffic management, 
transportation, water and wastewater. 

REGION OF WATERLOO 

�
PUBLIC HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES 

Harm reduction and affordable housing. 

�
REGIONAL POLICE AND EMERGENCY RESPONSE 

Paramedic and policing services. 

�
REGIONAL PLANNING 

Environmental and economic development. 

�
WASTE MANAGEMENT AND WATER TREATMENT 

Water collection services, water treatment and 

wastewater management. 

�
REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 

Waterloo Region International Airport, Grand 
River Transit, ION and Regional roads. 

For more information, view 

the "A to Z Services" list at 

regionofwaterloo.ca. 

Street-View

Hands-helping

Palette

LEAF

BASKETBALL-BALL

Piggy-Bank

car-alt
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2019 Year In Review

Community Wellbeing at a Glance 

CAMBRIDGE 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 

TABLE 

PILOT PROGRAM 

FUNDING APPROVED 

TWO NEW 

FIRE TRUCKS 

COMPLETED 22 

ACTIONS 

OF THE DIVERSITY 

INCLUSION AND 

ACCESSIBILITY PLAN 

OPERATION 

HAZY DAY 

IN COOPERATION 

WITH REGIONAL 

PARTNERS 

AMBASSADOR TEAM 

CONTINUED OUTREACH 

IN THE CORE AREAS 

INVESTED IN THE WORK 

OF CAMBRIDGE S 

EIGHT NEIGHBOURHOOD 

ASSOCIATIONS 

HOSTED 

NEWCOMER DAY 

EVENT 

460 ATTENDED 

�
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2019 Year In Review

Governance & Leadership at a Glance 

235 PUBLIC 

COMMUNICATIONS 

FROM THE CITY 

HOSTED 

FIRST CEMETERY 

OPERATIONS SUMMIT 

2020 BUDGET 

ENGAGEMENT 

SURVEY THROUGH 

ENGAGECAMBRIDGE 

WATERLOO 

REGION 

ADVOCACY DAYS 

PARTICIPATION 

AT FEDERAL AND 

PROVINCIAL LEVEL 

UPDATED THE 

DEVELOPMENT 

CHARGES BYLAW 

CITY STAFF 

PARTICIPATION IN 

OUTREACH ACTIVITIES, 

INCLUDING THE PUBLIC 

WORKS OPEN HOUSE 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

REVIEW COMPLETION 

IDENTIFIED 11 KEY 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
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2019 Year In Review

Arts, Culture, Heritage & Architecture at a Glance 

CAMBRIDGE 

HALL OF FAME 

RE-LAUNCH 

TOP 100 

FESTIVALS  

AWARD FOR 

CHRISTMAS IN 

CAMBRIDGE 

24 FREE 

ACTIVITIES 

DURING 

CULTURE DAYS 

14 DOORS 

OPEN SITES IN 

CAMBRIDGE 

HERITAGE 

RESTORATION OF 

DAVID DURWARD 

CENTRE 

HOSTED 

FIRST 

HERITAGE 

DAY 

CAMBRIDGE 

ARCHIVES 

20% INCREASE IN 

VISITORS 
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Environments & Rivers at a Glance 

COUNCIL APPROVED 

BAN ON PURCHASE 

OF COMMON PLASTIC 

POLLUTERS 

PLANNING FOR 

GREEN FLEET 

CLIMATE ACTION 

ADAPTATION 

PLAN 

LED LIGHTING 

ALONG GRAND 

RIVER S WEST 

SIDE AND 

SOPER PARK 

CITY STAFF 

PLANTED 

170 TREES AND 

50,000 FLOWERS 

10KM OF 

NEW TRAILS, 

INCLUDING THE 

MILL RUN TRAIL 

AND NORTHVIEW 

HEIGHTS TRAIL 

FOUR NEW 

DOG WASTE 

COLLECTION 

UNITS 
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Parks & Recreation at a Glance 

CAMBRIDGE 

RECREATION 

COMPLEX SITE 

SELECTION 

NEW AFFORDABLE 

SKATE AND HELMET 

RENTAL PROGRAM 

AT HESPELER ARENA 

AND DICKSON 

CENTRE 

22,800 VOLUNTEER 

HOURS CONTRIBUTED 

TO SENIOR PROGRAM 

ACTIVITIES 

SUMMER CAMPS 

MORE THAN 

3,100 CHILDREN 

ATTENDED 

CAMBRIDGE 

CITY GREEN 

STEWARDSHIP 

PLANTED 146 

TREES AND 150 

WILDFLOWERS AT 

THREE SITES 

INVESTMENTS IN CITY 

PARKS, INCLUDING 

NEW DISC GOLF 

COURSE AT SOPER 

PARK 
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Economic Development & Tourism at a Glance 

CORE AREAS 

TRANSFORMATION 

FUND 

APPROVAL 

FOREIGN DIRECT 

INVESTMENT 

MISSION TO 

SILICON VALLEY 

BUSINESS RETENTION 

AND EXPANSION 

PROGRAM ASSISTED 

MORE THAN 30 

BUSINESSES 

OPENED UP 

MORE THAN 400 ACRES 

OF NEW EMPLOYMENT 

LANDS 

IN NORTH CAMBRIDGE 

BUSINESS PARK 

“EAT, SHOP AND 

STAY” 

GUIDE LAUNCH 

RETAIL 

CANNABIS 

SALES OPT IN 

1,642 BUILDING 

PERMITS ISSUED 

WITH A 

CONSTRUCTION 

VALUE OF 

$455,980,194 
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Transportation & Infrastructure at a Glance 

“MOVING CAMBRIDGE” 

A MORE SUSTAINABLE, 

ACCESSIBLE 

TRANSPORTATION 

SYSTEM 

CYCLING MASTER 

PLAN CONSULTATION 

AND BIKE YOUR 

COMMUNITY 

WORKSHOP 

NEW CURBSIDE 

CHARGING 

STATIONS 

FOR ELECTRIC 

VEHICLES 

NEW SAFETY 

DECALS AT 

HESPELER ROAD 

TRAIN CROSSING 

LOCAL 

CONNECTIONS TO 

ION BUS ROUTES 

BETWEEN AINSLIE 

TERMINAL AND 

FAIRWAY STATION 

DROPBIKE 

PILOT PROGRAM 

PARTICIPATION 
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Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Canadian Award for Financial Reporting (CAnFR) to the Corporation of the City of Cambridge for the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.  

The CAnFR program was established in 
1986. The program encourages and 
assists Canadian local governments to 
go beyond the minimum requirements 
and prepare annual financial reports 
that model transparency and full 
disclosure. The CAnFR recognizes 
excellence in government accounting 
and financial reporting and represents a 
significant accomplishment by a 
municipal government and its 
management.  

In order to be awarded a CAnFR, a 
government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized 
annual financial report, whose contents 
conform to program standards. Such 
report should go beyond the minimum 
requirements of generally accepted 
accounting principles and demonstrate 
an effort to clearly communicate the 
municipal government’s financial 
picture, enhance an understanding of 
financial reporting by municipal 
governments, and address user needs. 

The CAnFR program award submissions 
are reviewed by a committee of GFOA 
professional staff, experts in Canadian 
Public Sector financial reporting, 
independent auditors, academics, and 
finance professionals. A CAnFR is valid 
for a period of one year only. We 
believe our current report continues to 
conform to the Canadian Award for 
Financial Reporting program
requirements. 

The Corporation of the City of 
Cambridge received its fourth award in 
2019 for the 2018 Financial Report. The City of Cambridge is continuing this standard of high quality 
reporting for the submission and evaluation for the 2019 award program. 

cambridge.ca 
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Report from the Chief Financial Officer 

The City of Cambridge (the “City”) is pleased to present its Annual Financial Report for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the 
Chartered Professional Accountant of Canada.  The City’s external auditors, KPMG, LLP, has performed 
an audit of these financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
have expressed an unqualified audit opinion that the consolidated statements are free from material 
misstatement and fairly present the financial position of the City as at December 31, 2019 in all material 
respects. 

The Financial Statements Discussion and Analysis communicates to residents, businesses, and 
stakeholders the results of the City’s 2019 financial performance.  The financial statements show the City 
is fiscally strong with accumulated surplus of $736.1 million. A key indicator of a municipality’s 
financial condition is its net financial assets which represent the difference between the financial 
assets less liabilities.  Overall the City has maintained a strong financial position in 2019 with 
financial assets exceeding liabilities by $110.5 million, an increase of $11.7 million over 2018.  

Programs and service levels are provided to the community as established by City of Cambridge 
Council through the annual budget.  The City ended the year with a budget surplus of $1.39 million 
which represents a variance of 1.2% of the gross operating budget and indicates good financial 
management.  The surplus is mainly attributed to one-time revenues or savings in expenses that are not 
expected to continue in future years. This includes salary gapping savings through retirements and staff 
turnover, and increased investment income as a result of favourable market conditions in 2019. The 
above noted savings were partially offset by waived development charges exceeding the council 
approved allocation, the city’s general maintenance cost being over budget due to aging infrastructure 
and unplanned repairs in recreation and cultural services, and lower than anticipated program revenues 
in recreation and cultural services.  The City’s accumulated surplus increased by $17 million or 2.37% 
over 2018, mainly as a result of increased reserves and investment in tangible capital assets.    

The City’s Water and Wastewater utility budgets also realized a surplus in 2019 of $0.71 million and 
$0.86 million respectively. The primary drivers of this are savings in bulk water purchases from the 
Region of Waterloo, a higher percentage of water being billed for revenue, and savings in wastewater 
treatment costs due to efficiencies realized in inflow and infiltration. 

The City’s sustainable and forward thinking approach to financial management continues to serve the 
organization well as it responds to ongoing challenges within the community such as homelessness and 
the opioid crisis.  

The City continues to be an award winning organization for its government accounting and financial 
reporting, having been honoured the past four years with the Canadian Award for Financial Reporting 
by the Government Finance Officers Association.  The award is presented annually to Canadian local 
governments that go beyond the minimum requirements and prepare annual financial reports that 
model transparency and full disclosure.  

There are many contributors to the City’s success and achievements. Thank you to City Council, the City 
Manager, Deputy City Managers, and staff in all departments for their efforts in ensuring the City 
remains in a strong financial position. 

Sheryl Ayres, CPA, CGA 

Chief Financial Officer 

May 19, 2020

cambridge.ca 
14



Management Responsibility 

CITY MANAGEMENT AND COUNCIL ROLES 

The City’s management is responsible for both the accuracy of the presented data and the 
completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures. 

The City’s management monitors and maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in 
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available 
on a timely basis for preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

City Council meets with management and the external auditor to review the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and to discuss any significant financial reporting and internal control matters prior to their 
approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

FINANCIAL AUDIT 

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent external 
auditor appointed by the City.  The Independent Auditor’s Report which is included in the statements 
provides an unqualified opinion on the City’s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.  The report also contains the auditor’s responsibilities and the scope of their 
examination. 

An audit is conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  These 
standards require that the auditors comply with ethical requirements necessary to plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the Consolidated Financial Statements are free from material 
error. 

An audit involves performing specific procedures chosen by the auditor to obtain evidence in order to 
verify the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements as well as to assess the risk 
of a material misstatement.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

FINANCIAL BUDGET 

The budget is an important strategic planning and control tool that is required by legislation.  Section 
290 of the Municipal Act, 2001 requires a municipality to adopt a budget including estimates of all sums 
required during the year for the purpose of the municipality.  The City’s budget serves as the foundation 
for the City’s financial planning and control.  The budget supports many different services and projects 
and is based on balancing priorities while maintaining current service levels, investing in growth where 
appropriate and making prudent financial decisions. 

The process of budget compilation commences early in the year in an effort to ensure the City has an 
approved budget in place for the start of the new fiscal year.  The City’s management prepares a 
proposed budget which is submitted to the City Council in December for review and approval. 

cambridge.ca 
15



Financial Statements Discussion 

and Analysis 

The accompanying Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the Canadian public sector 
accounting standards published by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada. 

The Financial Statements Discussion and Analysis and Financial Report is published to provide the City’s 
Council, staff, citizens and other readers with detailed information concerning the financial position and 
activities of the Corporation of the City of Cambridge. 

There are four required Financial Statements: Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Operations 
and Accumulated Surplus, Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets and Statement of Cash Flows.  
These Financial Statements provide information on the cost of all City activities, how they were 
financed, investing activities, as well as the assets and liabilities of the City. 

Risk Management and Significant 

Financial Management Policies 

The financial management and control of the City is governed through by-laws and Council resolutions 
that prescribe purchasing, accounting, investing, risk management, and debt policies.  City Council has 
sole authority to allocate funds through the annual operating and capital budget approval process. 

The annual operating budget is balanced with revenues equalling expenditures for the budget year.  The 
operating budget must include estimates of all sums required by the municipality including all forms and 
sources of revenues and expenditures. 

Sound financial policies are key to ensuring that the tax levy does not become an increasing burden on 
the community.  The City strives to maximize non-tax sources of revenue to sustain our level of services 
to our residents.  The City charges user fees to recover costs of services where it is appropriate to do 
so. A review of user fees is completed annually to ensure that fees are increasing at the appropriate 
yearly rate of inflation. Council annually reviews and approves the City’s Municipal Fees and Charges 
Bylaw. 

The City’s financial management policies regarding Tangible Capital Assets (“TCAs”) stipulate that said 
assets are recorded at cost and include all amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, 
construction, development, or betterment of the asset.  The costs, less residual value, of the TCAs are 
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.  TCAs under development are not 
amortized until the asset is available for productive use, at which time they are capitalized.  The City has 
a capitalization threshold of $50,000 for each individual asset class, such that individual TCAs of lesser 
value are expensed unless they are pooled, because collectively they have significant value or could not 
be operated separately. 

The City’s financial policies establish guidelines for debt limits, revenue sources and utilization of 
reserves and reserve funds, budget variance reporting and include the procurement by-law and setting 
authorization limits.  These policies are intended to mitigate risk, safeguard the City’s assets and ensure 
that proper internal controls are in place.  

cambridge.ca 
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2019 Financial Highlights 

The financial highlights compare select ratios that are calculated and tracked by the Ministry of 
Municipal Affairs and Housing (The Ministry) for all municipalities in Ontario. The Ministry also provides 
comparative benchmarks for municipalities with similar traits to the City in terms of location and tier 
which allows the City to track themselves against their peers. These ratios fall into two categories, 
sustainability and flexibility. Sustainability refers to the degree to which the City can maintain its existing 
obligations in terms of service levels as well as its financial commitments without increasing debt or 
taxes. In comparison, flexibility ratios provide insight into how much a government can change its debt 
and tax level to meet its existing financial obligations and its service commitments. The City has 
included the average of municipalities that fall under The Ministry’s South Lower Tier Region Non-Rural 
category (SLTR) in the analysis below. This will show how the City has been performing in comparison 
to other municipalities in that category. Please note that the 2019 average data is missing because the 
Ministry analysis of neighbouring Financial Information Returns has not yet been disclosed.   

TOTAL TAXES RECEIVABLE LESS ALLOWANCE UNCOLLECTABLE AS A % OF TOTAL TAXES LEVIED 

The City has shown strong fiscal management which is evident in the trend of total taxes receivable less 
allowance for uncollectible amounts as a percentage of total taxes levied. From 2015 to 2017, the ratio 
has steadily decreased from 7.5% to 6.0%. The city has 
experienced a slight increase, moving to 6.2% in 2018 
and 6.5% in 2019. Taxes receivable is the amount of 
outstanding taxes owed to the municipality. High 
outstanding taxes may reflect the inability of residents 
to pay their taxes or it could indicate problems with 
the municipality’s tax collection procedures. High 
outstanding taxes could create cash flow problems for 
the municipality or result in higher tax rates to fund 
uncollectable taxes or tax write-offs. The City is 
showing improvement in recent years and has 
remained below 7.0% since 2017. Although this is 
slightly higher than the SLTR average, it demonstrates 
that the City is sustainably collecting taxes and is 
remaining consistently below 10.0% which represents 
the lowest risk threshold as per the Ministry. 

CASH RATIO 

The cash ratio is a key measure of the City’s short-term 
financial health. This ratio compares the cash and cash 
equivalents to current liabilities and should remain 
above 0.5:1 to be considered low risk by The Ministry. 
The ratio is an indicator of how much cash and liquid 
investments could be available to cover the current 
obligations of the municipality and is an increasingly 
important ratio during uncertain times. The City has 
been improving slowly moving from 2.14:1 in 2015 to 
3.80:1 in 2018 where it was performing better than the 
SLTR average. In 2019, the ratio decreased slightly 
mainly due to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents 
during 2019 which funded the acquisition of tangible 
capital assets and investments. However, the rate of 
3.12:1 in 2019 indicates that the City has $3.12 of liquid assets for every $1 of current liabilities which is a 
strong ratio and leaves the City well positioned to endure pressures caused during challenging times. 

cambridge.ca 
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cambridge.ca 

DEBT SERVICING COSTS AS A % OF TOTAL REVENUES 

The audited financial statements indicate that the City is fiscally strong with accumulated surplus, as at 
December 31, 2019 of $736.1 million.  Strong fiscal management is also confirmed by the City’s debt 
servicing costs to total revenues being 2.7% which is in The Ministry’s low risk threshold of 5% or less. 
Debt servicing costs to total revenues is the amount of 
principal and interest that a municipality must pay 
each year to service the debt as a percentage of total 
revenue less donated tangible capital assets. As debt 
service increases, it reduces expenditure flexibility. This 
graph shows that the City has strong financial 
flexibility as it is consistently below the recommended 
threshold. Even though The City has seen their 
percentage of debt servicing to total revenues 
increase from 1.4% in 2015 to 2.7% in 2019 it has 
remained consistent year over year and continuously 
preforms better than the SLTR average. The City 
acknowledges that this ratio will have to increase in 
the coming years as the City’s capital forecast includes 
many key and growth related projects. However, this 
only further highlights the strong financial 
management of the City by persistently keeping debt low in preparation for these projects. 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION BALANCE AS A % OF TOTAL COST OF CAPITAL 

The City’s accumulated amortization balance as a percent of capital costs for 2019 was 38.1%, a 
decrease of 2.2% from 2018. Accumulated amortization is the amount of use that a municipality has 
received from all of its tangible capital asset and the 
total cost is the amount paid for those assets. 
Therefore, this ratio is important to show how much of 
the City’s assets’ life expectancy has been consumed 
so far as well as how quickly the City is renewing aging 
infrastructure. When comparing the City of Cambridge 
to the SLTR average, the City of Cambridge has used a 
larger percentage of assets compared to their cost 
than other municipalities which would signify that the 
City’s infrastructure is older than average. However, it 
is noteworthy that the City has been working to update 
its infrastructure and over the last two years has 
consistently seen this ratio improve. Other 
municipalities in the area have comparatively been 
trending in the opposite direction showing that 
infrastructure is aging at a quicker pace than its being 
renewed. The City will continue to work to close its 
infrastructure deficit to ensure that tangible capital assets can be replaced or renewed on a timely basis. 
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2019 Financial Summary 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The City ended 2019 with a net financial asset position (financial assets less financial liabilities) of $110.5 
million, an increase of 11.80% or $11.7 million from the prior year.  This is made up of an increase in 
financial assets of $34.0 million and an increase in financial liabilities of $22.3 million.  The following 
chart illustrates the five year trend in net financial assets. 

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 

2019 2018 Change % Change

Financial assets 304,425,023$       270,419,876$       34,005,147$         12.57%
Less financial liabilities 193,957,902         171,614,833         22,343,069            13.02%
Net financial assets 110,467,121$      98,805,043$        11,662,078$        11.80%
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FINANCIAL ASSETS 

In 2019 the City’s financial assets have increased by $34.0 million due to investments increasing by 
$49.9 million, trade & other receivables increasing by $1.8 million, taxes and grants in lieu increasing by 
$1.4 million, offset by cash and cash equivalents decreasing by $12.6 million and land held for resale 
decreasing by $6.5 million.  

On December 31, 2019 the City’s cash and investments totaled $269.4 million, compared to $232.1 
million on December 31, 2018, an increase of $37.3 million. An increase in Trade and other receivables is 
the result of timing of payments at year end. Taxes receivable have increased by $1.4 million and the 
average taxes receivable per household increased to $368 in 2019 compared to $346 in 2018. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 
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CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

The 2019 year end cash and cash equivalent balance is $60.5 million compared to $73.1 million in 2018. 
This is a decrease of $12.6 million.  Cash and cash equivalents generated a rate of return in 2019 of 2.28% 
compared to 1.93% in 2018 resulting from the Bank of Canada overnight rate remaining stable 
throughout 2019 at 1.75%.  

Investments are comprised of two types which are the City’s investment in Cambridge and North 
Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. and marketable securities.  The investment in Cambridge and North Dumfries 
Energy Plus Inc. as at December 31, 2019 was $89.2 million, an increase of $3.1 million from 2018. 
Additionally, the City received a dividend from Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. in 2019 
in the amount of $3.2 million.  

Overall, investment income increased year-over-year in 2019 compared to 2018, largely as a result of the 
increases in the Bank of Canada’s key interest rate which is a driver of the City’s bank’s prime interest 
rate and investment options available to the City.  

The income on the reserve fund, however, decreased from $1.5 million in 2018 to $1.3 million in 2019. This 
is mainly due to an adjustment to one particular investment product that the City has held for many 
years. This investment product was associated with bonds, and therefore the market value varied over 
time from the book value due to changes in interest rates. Generally, investment products are not 
adjusted to their market values under Public Sector Accounting Standards except when there is a 
sustained impairment. As staff planned to dispose of this investment product in 2020, its value was 
therefore adjusted down to its market value as of December 31, 2019 reflecting the impairment. 

The return on investment for the reserve fund was therefore only 0.75% in 2019, however would have 
been 2.42% had it not been for this adjustment. This compares to a return of 2.35% in 2018.  

The return on investment for the general fund for 2019 was 2.72%, compared to 2.39% in 2018. 

CASH AND INVESTMENT POSITIONS (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

The major contributors to the increase of financial liabilities of $22.3 million are an increase in deferred 
revenue - obligatory reserve funds and long-term debt as well as lesser increases in employee future 
benefits, deferred revenue and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The increase in deferred 
revenue - obligatory reserve funds of $11.7 million is due to an increase from 2018 of cash collected but 
not earned related to capital work activity completed and funded through development charges. The 
increase in long-term debt of $6.2 million is due to the issuance of debentures in 2019.   

The new debentures issued by the City in 2019 totalled $10.7 million. The City also paid off $4.5 million 
worth of long term debentures. The net impact resulted in an increase of net long-term debentures to 
$41.6 million.  

Guidelines established by the Ontario Municipal Board (OMB) allows for a maximum debt payment ratio 
of 25% of total own source revenues exclusive of grant funding, which in 2019 equalled to $46.8 million.  
The City Council has set further restrictive guidelines of 10% and up to 15% with the inclusion of non-tax 
supported debt.  The City’s current debt capacity ratio of 3% is within the guidelines set by both the 
OMB and City Council.  

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Non-financial assets have continued to increase with a 0.87% increase or $5.4 million. Non-financial 
assets primarily consists of tangible capital assets, which reflects the City’s investment into capital 
infrastructure and the value of new assets being added to the City’s inventory exceeding the annual 
amortization costs. 

The pie chart on the following page provides the breakdown of tangible capital assets by the type of 
asset. 

cambridge.ca 
22



TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

Tangible capital assets totalled $623.4 million, an increase of $5.0 million from 2018. The majority of this 
increase was from infrastructure of $39.2 million followed by buildings and building improvements of 
$20.3 million and machinery, equipment and information technology of $9.1 million. These increases 
were offset by a decrease in assets under construction of $70.1 million. Further details by category can 
be found on page 24. 

2019 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSET BREAKDOWN 

The chart below shows the tangible capital assets growth trend over the previous five years. 

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 
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TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

The City has maintained a strong accumulated surplus with a total of $736.1 million, an increase of 2.37% 
from the prior year balance of $719.0 million.  The change in the accumulated surplus is generated from 
the annual excess of revenues over expenses for the year of $17.1 million.  This includes revenues used 
for the acquisition of tangible capital assets.  

It is critical for readers of the Financial Statements to understand that the term “accumulated surplus” 
cannot be construed as “cash or funds” available for spending, as the bulk of the value is non-financial 
assets, and reflect the City’s investment in infrastructure which is used to deliver programs and services. 
They are not assets that are surplus to the operations and available to be liquidated. 

A detailed breakdown of accumlated surplus (in thousands) is presented in Note 14 “accumulated 
surplus” of the Consolidated Financial Statements.  Summary information is included in the table below: 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

The reserve and reserve fund balances have increased by $8.5 million primarly due the sale of industrial 
land in the Boxwood Business Campus and the creation of the Core Areas Tansformation fund.  

The amounts to be recovered balance is comprised of the principal outstanding on debentures issued 
by the City and estimates of future employee benefit costs. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

The Consolidated Statement of Operations is the municipal equivalent of the private sector’s income 
statement, providing a summary of revenues and expenses throughout the year.  Annual surplus 
reported on this statement is the difference between the cost of providing the City’s services and the 
revenues recognized for the year on an accrual basis.  Budget figures represent operating and 
water/wastewater budgets combined in Note 13 of the Financial Statements. 

Asset Type 2019 % 2018 % Change %

Land 94,465,880$     15.15% 91,946,840$     14.87% 2,519,040$    2.74%
Land improvements 44,428,281$     7.13% 43,195,024       6.99% 1,233,257       2.86%
Buildings & building improvements 106,847,140$  17.14% 86,522,075       13.99% 20,325,065    23.49%
Infrastructure 299,975,078$  48.12% 260,732,714     42.17% 39,242,364    15.05%
Machinery, equipment, & information technology 20,134,784$     3.23% 10,986,028       1.78% 9,148,756       83.28%
Vehicles 9,381,142$       1.50% 6,714,583         1.09% 2,666,559       39.71%
Assets under construction 48,135,311$     7.72% 118,262,040     19.13% (70,126,729)   -59.30%
Total 623,367,616$ 100.00% 618,359,304$ 100.00% 5,008,312$   0.81%

2019 2018 Change

Reserves & reserve funds 97,254,050$         88,713,605$         8,540,445$            
Surpluses

Invested in tangible capital assets 623,367,616   618,359,304   5,008,312        
Invested in repair and replacement of assets 35,877,954      16,893,410      18,984,544      
Invested in Government Business Enterprise 89,241,216      86,176,128      3,065,088        
Sanitary Sewage Systems 862,490           2,096,880        (1,234,390)       
Water Supply System 711,999           578,608           133,391           
General revenue fund 969,225           4,108,390        (3,139,165)       
Library board 620,111           115,785           504,326           
Business improvement areas 72,851             10,768             62,083             
Land held for resale - 6,519,669 (6,519,669)       
Amounts to be recovered

Employee benefits and post-employment liabilities (71,305,417)    (69,148,342)    (2,157,075)       
Long-term debt (41,576,835)    (35,379,063)    (6,197,772)       

Total accumulated surplus 736,095,260$      719,045,142$      17,050,118$        
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REVENUES 

The City’s revenues (excluding other income) for 2019 were $186.8 million, compared to a budgeted 
amount of $178.0 million.  The variances between budget and actual primarily relate to differences in 
land sales and other, investment income, and taxation. Land sales and other for 2019 performed better 
than budget by $6.7 million primarily due to the unbudgeted sale of industrial land at the Boxwood 
Business Campus in 2019. Investment income for 2019 performed better than budget by $1.4 million 
primarily due to investments earning a higher rate of return from the prior year and a change in strategy 
to maximize investment returns. Taxation revenue for 2019 performed better than budget by $0.7 
million primarily due to additional supplemental levies and lower tax write-offs than planned.  This and 
other increases were partially offset by user fees and charges coming in under budget by $0.9 million, 
largely resulting from the actual amount of water usage being below the estimated levels as well as 
regional contract revenues being lower than budgeted. 

Note 13 “Budget figures” in the financial statements provides a reconciliation between the statements 
and the operating and water/wastewater budgets previously approved by City Council. 

2019 REVENUE BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS 

TOTAL REVENUES 

Total revenue reported for the year 2019 was $186.8 million, an increase of $6.7 million from last year’s 
amount of $180.1 million. Various increases and decreases in revenue offset each other in a year over 
year comparison. One of the main sources of an increase in revenue was the increase in taxation by $2.5 
million compared to the 2018 amount of $88.0 million. This was mainly due to the tax levy increase of 
$3.3 million ratified by Council during the 2019 budget approval process based on projected operating 
requirements.  

2019 REVENUE BY TYPE 

Budget Actual Variance % Variance

Taxation 89,791,600$         90,463,238$         671,638$               0.74%
User fees and charges 81,963,800$         81,071,814$         (891,986)                -1.10%
Penalties and interest on taxes 2,600,000$            2,978,059$            378,059 12.69%
Investment income 1,173,100$            2,592,498$            1,419,398              54.75%
Fines 614,000$               818,063$               204,063 24.94%
Federal government transfers 72,000$                 308,438$               236,438 76.66%
Provincial government transfers 1,333,700$            1,384,911$            51,211 3.70%
Deferred revenue earned 202,000$               202,000$               - 0.00%
Land sales & other 222,200$               6,965,410$            6,743,210              96.81%
Total 177,972,400$      186,784,431$      8,812,031$           4.72%
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Summary information is included in the table below: 

REVENUE 

OTHER INCOME 

Other income reported for the year 2019 was $16.1 million, a decrease of $14.3 million from last year’s 
amount of $30.4 million.  Various decreases contributed to the year over year comparison.   

The main source of the decrease was in donated tangible capital assets by $5.8 million compared to the 
2018 amount of $6.5 million. This was as a result of no subdivision assumptions being taken during 2019. 
The City receives assets from developers as part of their obligation under subdivision agreements, 
which are deemed to be donated assets because no cash changed hands.  These assets are transferred 
into the ownership of the City and must be recorded on the City’s Statement of Financial Position as 
part of the tangible capital assets pool.  At the same time, the value of the assets contributed must be 
recognized as revenue received by the City on the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. 

Another decrease in other income is from deferred revenue earned. Deferred revenue earned decreased 
by $4.1 million compared to the 2018 amount of $7.9 million.  Deferred revenue earned includes 
development charges earned for the capital expenses incurred within the calendar year and do not 
include the actual cash collected in that year.  The decrease in this revenue source was related to the 
decrease in capital work activity completed and funded through development charges. 

Federal Government transfers decreased by $2.4 million from the 2018 amount of $6.6 million, primarily 
related to a reduction in federal funding for capital projects completed during 2019. Provincial 
Government transfers decreased by $1.5 million from the 2018 amount of $1.6 million.  The decrease in 
Provincial and Federal Government transfers is not based on less cash received, but rather based on 
recognition of capital expenditures under the accrual method. 

The City owns 92.1% of Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. As such the City is required to 
recognize our proportionate share of the consolidated operating gain for the year ended December 31, 
2019 which was $6.2 million, a decrease of $0.1 million from 2018. 

OTHER INCOME 

2019 2018 Change % Change

Taxation 90,463,238$         87,984,087$         2,479,151$            2.82%
User fees and charges 81,071,814$         78,627,230$         2,444,584              3.11%
Penalties and interest on taxes 2,978,059$            2,614,718$            363,341 13.90%
Investment income 2,592,498$            3,017,201$            (424,703)                -14.08%
Fines 818,063$               1,433,329$            (615,266)                -42.93%
Federal government transfers 308,438$               142,325$               166,113 116.71%
Provincial government transfers 1,384,911$            1,518,001$            (133,090)                -8.77%
Deferred revenue earned 202,000$               153,200$               48,800 31.85%
Land sales & other 6,965,410$            4,582,638$            2,382,772              52.00%
Total 186,784,431$      180,072,729$      6,711,702$           3.73%

2019 2018 Change % Change

Grants and transfers related to capital
Deferred revenue earned 3,757,934$    7,855,922$    (4,097,988)$    -52.16%
Government transfers - Ontario 58,509$          1,572,632$    (1,514,123)      100.00%
Government transfers - Federal 4,225,780$    6,579,991$    (2,354,211)      -35.78%
Donated tangible capital assets 675,000$       6,524,773$    (5,849,773)      -89.65%
Share of net income for the year from Cambridge 
and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. 6,219,084$    6,344,460$    (125,376)         -1.98%

Interest earned on reserves 1,204,416$    1,514,477$    (310,061)         -20.47%
Total 16,140,723$  30,392,255$  (14,251,532)$ -46.89%
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EXPENSES 

The 2019 operating position of the City results in actual expenses totalling $185.9 million which is $6.2 
million greater than budgeted expenses of $179.7 million. The unfavourable variance in expenses was 
primarily driven by general government, protection to persons and property and recreation and cultural 
services. General government was over budget mainly due to the waived development charges 
recognized in 2019 of $4.2 million. The City’s Development Charges Bylaw allows for an exemption of 
development charges in any of the City’s three core areas. When the City of Cambridge waives or 
discounts any development charge, the City is then obligated to make up for that amount of waived 
development charges. Protection to persons and property was over budget mainly due to increased 
amortization expense including a full year of amortization for Fire Station 6 as well as the purchase of 
new vehicles. In addition, protection to persons and property capital expenditures were higher than 
anticipated mainly from the acquisition of the Intergraph computer aided dispatch system. Recreation 
and cultural services expenses was over budget mainly due to the Library incorporating tangible capital 
assets in their financial statements in 2019, and the recognition of the associated amortization expense 
in 2019. The major favourable variance in expenses was primarily due to environmental services. In 2019, 
the water loss was less than anticipated, resulting in lower bulk water purchases from the Region, as 
well as lower than anticipated expenditures in materials and program supplies as a result of fewer 
service related repairs, and salary gapping savings. In addition the sewer budget was better than 
anticipated due to better than expected inflow and infiltration. Additionally, lateral repairs and 
blockages in 2019 were 27% less than 2018, and in-house use of relining technology reduced contracted 
services and restoration costs.   

2019 OPERATING EXPENSES BY FUNCTION (IN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 

Environmental Services 

• Drainage and
structural
maintenance

• Water &
sewer

Recreation & Cultural 
Services 

• Community
development

• Parks &
forestry

• Community
centres

• Arenas
• Library

Transportation Services 

• Roads &
winter
maintenance

• Street lighting
• Development

&
infrastructure

• Traffic &
transportation

• Field services

Protection to Persons & 
Property 

• Fire

• Bylaw services

General  Government 

• Corporate
expenditures

• Technology
services

• Human
resources
services

• Internal
audit and
insurance

• City Hall
• Financial

services
• Clerks
• Mayor/

council
• City solicitor

Planning & Development 

• Chamber/Visitor
information

• Small business
centre

• Policy planning
• Development

planning
• Cambridge

Farmers’ Market

Social & Family 
Services 

• Centres (David
Durward, Ted
Wake, Allan
Reuter, W.E.
Pautler)

• Programs
(Special Day,
Friendly
Visiting,
Cultural
Diversity)

• Social planning
council

Health Services 

• Cemetery
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Total expenses reported for the year was $185.9 million, an increase of $12.9 million from last year’s 
amount of $173.0 million. The main sources of increases are as follows: 

General government: General government expenses totalled $31.8 million, an increase by $4.5 
million compared to the 2018 amount of $27.3 million. This was mainly due to the waived 
development charges recognized in 2019 of $4.2 million, compared to $0.3 million in 2018 
(excluding the water and sewer portions).  

Recreation and cultural services: Recreation and cultural services expenses totalled $33.6 
million, an increase by $3.2 million compared to the 2018 amount of $30.4 million. This was 
mainly due to the Library incorporating tangible capital assets in their financial statements in 
2019, and the recognition of the associated amortization expense in 2019. 

Protection to persons and property: Protection to persons and property expenses totalled 
$30.0 million, an increase by $2.2 million compared to the 2018 amount of $27.8 million. This 
was mainly due to an increase in salaries, wages and employee benefits from Fire Suppression 
of $1.5 million, as a result of the first full year of operations of Fire Station 6 and due to less staff 
retirements and resulting vacancies in 2019 compared to 2018. 

EXPENSE 

2019 2018 Change % Change

General government 31,822,711$         27,269,284$         4,553,427$            16.70%
Protection to persons & property 30,013,580            27,797,933            2,215,647              7.97%
Transportation services 22,409,366            20,849,356            1,560,010              7.48%
Environmental services 59,636,539            57,938,558            1,697,981              2.93%
Health services 1,569,493              1,451,278              118,215 8.15%
Social & family services 1,781,697              1,862,732              (81,035) -4.35%
Recreation & cultural services 33,639,623            30,387,951            3,251,672              10.70%
Planning & development 5,002,027              5,442,240              (440,213)                -8.09%
Total 185,875,036$      172,999,332$      12,875,704$        7.44%
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RESERVES 

The City of Cambridge has established reserve and reserve funds to provide stability to tax rates in the 
event of unforeseen economic events, to provide funding for one-time requirements, to make provisions 
for the acquisition and replacement of infrastructure, and to provide flexibility to manage debt levels. 

Reserves and reserve funds totalled $97.3 million at December 31, 2019, an increase of $8.5 million from 
2018. Reserves and reserve fund levels have been increasing but are not at a sufficient level to 
adequately be used to provide funding for the replacement of tangible capital assets on a timely basis 
which is contributing to the infrastructure deficit.  Annual transfers to reserves and reserve funds will 
need to be increased in order to maintain and replace over $2.7 billion (at replacement cost) of capital 
assets that the city owns.  It is anticipated that reserves and reserve funds will decline in the future as 
the City continues to implement the planned capital expansion and repair and replacement programs to 
address the infrastructure deficit. 

2019 RESERVES 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The purpose of the Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets is to assist Financial Statement users 
in fully understanding the nature of the City’s financial activities in the period.  The statement backs out 
all of the non-financial activity from the Statement of Operations (e.g. amortization, gains/losses, 
acquisition and disposal of assets, changes in inventories and prepaid expenses).  Thus, the financial 
impact on the surplus attributable to change in financial assets is an increase of $11.7 million, compared 
to last year’s increase of $10.1 million. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows explains how the City financed its activities and met its cash 
requirements. It also details items not involving cash such as annual amortization and donated tangible 
capital assets. This schedule reconciles the change in cash and cash equivalents from one year to 
another.  The consolidated cash and cash equivalents position of the City decreased by $12.6 million to 
$60.5 million. 

The most significant cash outflows were the net change in investments of $49.9 million, the acquisition 
of tangible capital assets of $26.0 million and the debt principal repayment of $4.5 million.   

The most significant cash inflow was $10.7 million increase in debt issued. 
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Responsibility for Financial Reporting 

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and all other information contained in this Annual 
Report are the responsibility of the management of The Corporation of the City of Cambridge.  The 
preparation of periodic financial statements involves the use of estimates and approximations because 
the precise determination of financial information frequently depends on future events.  These 
Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by management within the reasonable limits of 
materiality and within the framework of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for 
governments established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada.  

In carrying out its responsibilities, management maintains appropriate systems of internal and 
administrative controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in 
accordance with proper authorization, that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded, and that 
financial information produced is relevant and reliable.  

Prior to their submission to Council, the Consolidated Financial Statements are reviewed and approved 
by the Corporate Leadership Team.  In addition, management meets periodically with the City's external 
auditors to approve the scope and timing of their respective audits, to review their findings and to 
satisfy itself that their responsibilities have been properly discharged.  

KPMG LLP, as the City's appointed external auditors have audited the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  The external auditors have full and free access to management and Council. The Auditors' 
Report is dated May 19, 2020 and appears on the following pages.  Their opinion is based upon an 
examination conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, performing 
such tests and other procedures as they consider necessary to obtain reasonable assurance that the 
Consolidated Financial Statements are free of material misstatements and present fairly the financial 
position and results of operations of the City in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards. 

......................................................... ............................................................ 

David Calder, Sheryl Ayres, CPA, CGA  

City Manager Chief Financial Officer 
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KPMG LLP 
115 King Street South 
2nd Floor 
Waterloo ON N2J 5A3 
Canada 
Tel 519-747-8800 
Fax 519-747-8830 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Mayor and Members of Council, Inhabitants and Ratepayers of the 
Corporation of the City of Cambridge 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the 
City of Cambridge (the Entity), which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of the financial position as at December 31, 2019

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the
year then ended

 the consolidated statement of change in net financial assets for the year then
ended

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Entity as 
at December 31, 2019, and its consolidated results of operations, its changes in 
consolidated net financial assets, and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent 
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

Independent Auditors' Report
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Page 2 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada 
and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.     

Other Matter – Comparative Information 

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 were audited by 
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial 
statements on May 23, 2019. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible 
for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s 
financial reporting process. 
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Page 3 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial 
statements 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

 The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's
internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.
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Page 4 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to
cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group Entity to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Canada 
May 19, 2020 
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Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Approved by 

…………………………………………….. 

…………………………………………….. 

2019  2018
(Note 15)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 60,544,881$                73,142,262$         
Taxes and grants-in-lieu (Note 5) 18,379,281 17,025,989           
Trade and other receivables (Note 5) 16,646,298 14,817,977           
Land held for resale - 6,519,669 
Investments (Note 6) 208,854,563 158,913,979         

304,425,023 270,419,876         

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 34,693,309 33,892,732           
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 71,305,417 69,148,342           
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds (Note 8) 42,776,522 31,082,922           
Deferred revenue - other 3,605,819 2,111,774             
Long-term debt (Note 9) 41,576,835 35,379,063           

193,957,902 171,614,833         

Net financial assets 110,467,121 98,805,043           

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets (Note 10) 623,367,616 618,359,304         
Inventories of supplies 763,188 867,491 
Prepaid expenses 1,497,335 1,013,304             

625,628,139 620,240,099         

Accumulated surplus (Note 14) 736,095,260$              719,045,142$       
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Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and Accumulated Surplus 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 2019
Budget 

(Note 13) 

 2019
Actual 

 2018
Actual

(Note 15) 
Revenues

Taxation 89,791,600$         90,463,238$         87,984,087$         
User fees and charges 81,963,800           81,071,814           78,627,230           
Penalties and interest on taxes 2,600,000             2,978,059             2,614,718             
Investment income 1,173,100             2,592,498             3,017,201             
Fines 614,000 818,063 1,433,329             
Government transfers

Canada 72,000 308,438 142,325 
Ontario 1,333,700             1,384,911             1,518,001             

Deferred revenue earned 202,000 202,000 153,200 
Land sales and other 222,200 6,965,410             4,582,638             

Total revenues 177,972,400         186,784,431         180,072,729         
Expenses

General government 26,458,470           31,822,711           27,269,284           
Protection to persons and property 28,457,896           30,013,580           27,797,933           
Transportation services 21,098,851           22,409,366           20,849,356           
Environmental services 63,172,360           59,636,539           57,938,558           
Health services 1,456,749             1,569,493             1,451,278             
Social and family services 1,831,900             1,781,697             1,862,732             
Recreation and cultural services 32,682,143           33,639,623           30,387,951           
Planning and development 4,571,748             5,002,027             5,442,240             

Total expenses 179,730,117         185,875,036         172,999,332         

Net revenues (expenses) before other income (1,757,717)            909,395 7,073,397             
Other income

Grants and transfers related to capital 
Deferred revenue earned 3,757,934             7,855,922             
Government transfers - Ontario 58,509 1,572,632             
Government transfers - Federal 4,225,780             6,579,991             
Donated tangible capital assets (Note 10) 675,000 6,524,773             

Share of net income for the year from Cambridge and North 
Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. (Note 6) 6,219,084             6,344,460             
Interest earned on reserves 1,204,416             1,514,477             

16,140,723           30,392,255           
Annual Surplus 17,050,118           37,465,652           
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 719,045,142         681,579,490         

Accumulated surplus, end of year 736,095,260$      719,045,142$       
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Consolidated Statement of Change 
in Net Financial Assets 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 2019             
Budget           

(Note 13) 

2019 
Actual

2018 
Actual

Annual surplus (1,757,717)$          17,050,118$         37,465,652$         

Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (25,977,407) (38,071,830)          
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 20,308,531 16,585,287           
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 1,335,564 259,208 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - - 83,507 
Donated tangible capital assets - (675,000) (6,524,773)            
Change in supplies inventories - 104,303 (359,456)               
Change in prepaid expenses - (484,031) 642,285 

Change in net financial assets (1,757,717)            11,662,078           10,079,880           

Net financial assets, beginning of year 98,805,043           98,805,043           88,725,163           

Net financial assets, end of year 97,047,326$         110,467,121$      98,805,043$         
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2019 2018
(Note 15)

Operating
Annual surplus 17,050,118$         37,465,652$         

Sources (uses)
Taxes and grants-in-lieu (1,353,292)            (1,401,755)            
Trade and other receivables (1,828,321)            1,156,068             
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 800,577                (11,301,867)          
Employee future benefits 2,157,075             1,943,543             
Deferred revenue - obligatory reserve funds 11,693,600           (1,309,568)            
Deferred revenue - other 1,494,045             2,111,774             
Inventories of supplies 104,303                (359,456)               
Prepaid expenses (484,031)               642,285 
Land held for resale 6,519,669             4,920,697             

Items not involving cash
Amortization 20,308,531           16,585,287           
Donated tangible capital assets (675,000)               (6,524,773)            
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 1,335,564             259,208 

Cash provided from operations 57,122,838           44,187,095           

Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (25,977,407)         (38,071,830)          
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 83,507 

Net investment in tangible capital assets (25,977,407)         (37,988,323)          

Investing
Net change in investments (49,940,584)         (4,586,397)            

Financing
Debt issued 10,706,000           - 
Debt principal repayment (4,508,228)            (4,421,699)            

Net (decrease) increase in cash from financing activities 6,197,772             (4,421,699)            

Net change in cash (12,597,381)         (2,809,324)            
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 73,142,262           75,951,586           

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 60,544,881$         73,142,262$         
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

1. MUNICIPAL STATUS

The Corporation of the City of Cambridge ("the City") was created on January 1, 1973 when the
three municipalities of Galt, Preston, and Hespeler and the settlement of Blair were amalgamated 
into a single legal entity under a new name.   

The City operates as a lower tier government in the Province of Ontario, Canada.  Cambridge 
provides municipal services such as fire protection, public works, water distribution, urban planning, 
recreation and cultural services, and other general government services.  The City owns 92.1% of its 
subsidiary, Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. and its affiliates. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the City are the representation of management, prepared
in accordance with local government accounting standards established by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.  The following is a 
summary of the significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these financial 
statements: 

(A) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

(i) Consolidated entities

These consolidated statements reflect the financial assets, liabilities, operating revenues and
expenses, reserve funds and reserves, changes in investment in tangible capital assets and
cash flows and include the activities of all governmental functions controlled and exercised
by the City and the following boards which are under the control of Council:

The Cambridge Public Library Board 

Preston Towne Centre Business Improvement Area 

Downtown Cambridge Business Improvement Area 

Hespeler Village Business Improvement Area 

All inter-organizational transactions and balances between these entities have been 
eliminated. 

(ii) Government Business Enterprises

The Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. and its affiliates are not consolidated
but are accounted for on the modified equity basis which reflects the City's investment in
the enterprises and its share of net income or loss less dividends received since acquisition.
Under the modified equity basis, the enterprises' accounting principles are not adjusted to
conform with those of the City and inter-organizational transactions and balances are not
eliminated.

(iii) Accounting for Region and School Board transactions

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, with respect to the operations
of the School Boards and the Regional Municipality of Waterloo, are not reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

(A) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - CONTINUED

(iv) Trust funds

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City are not consolidated, but
are reported separately on the Trust Funds Statement of Financial Position and Statement
of Continuity (see Note 4).

(B) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues are
normally recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are
recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services
and/or the legal obligation to pay.

(C) NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-financial assets are not normally available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for
use in the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and
are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.  The change in non-financial
assets during the year, together with the excess revenues over expenses, provides the
consolidated change in net financial assets for the year.

(i) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The cost
less residual value of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land Not Amortized

Buildings 40 to 50 years

Vehicles

 Specialty and fire trucks 9 to 20 years 

     Vehicles 5 years 

Computer hardware and software 5 years 

Water and waste plants and networks 

 Underground networks 40 to 80 years 

Transportation 

 Roads 25 to 35 years 

     Bridges and structures 30 to 50 years 

Other 

 Machinery and equipment 3 to 15 years 

 Land improvements 15 to 50 years 

 Leasehold improvements 24 years 

 The full amount of annual amortization is charged in year of disposal.  Assets under 
construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets (donated)

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the date
of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

(C) NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

(iii) Interest capitalization

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or construction of
a tangible capital asset.

(iv) Works of art and cultural and historic assets

These non-operational heritage assets are not recorded in these financial statements.

(v) Leases

Leases are classified as capital or operating leases.  Leases which transfer substantially all of
the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as capital
leases.  All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related lease
payments are charged to expenses as incurred.

(vi) Inventories and prepaid expenses

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement cost.

Prepaid expenses relate to expenditures incurred in the current period which relate to and
will be expensed in a future fiscal period.

(D) EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

The contributions to a multi-employer, defined benefit plan are expensed when the
contributions are due.  The costs of post-employment benefits are recognized when the event
that obligates the City occurs.  Costs include projected future income payments, health care
continuation costs, and fees paid to independent administrators of these plans, calculated on a
present value basis.

The costs of post-employment benefits are actuarially determined using the projected benefits
method prorated on service and management's best estimate of retirement ages of employees,
salary escalation, and expected health care costs.  Any gains or losses from changes in
assumptions or experience are amortized over the average remaining service period for active
employees.

(E) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of accounts maintained at chartered financial
institutions with an original maturity of three months or less.

(F) INVESTMENTS

Investments generally consist of high grade bonds, guaranteed investment certificates, and
interest rate savings accounts, and are recorded at the lower of cost plus accrued interest and
market value.  Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  Investment
income earned on obligatory reserve funds is considered deferred until the funds are applied.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED

(G) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenues are recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that gave
rise to the revenues.  All revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals
cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is
impracticable.

Government transfers are recognized as revenues when the transfer is authorized and any
eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an
obligation that meets the definition of a liability.  Transfers are recorded as deferred revenue
when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability.  Transfer revenue is recognized in the
statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled.

Government transfers, contributions, and other amounts are received from third parties
pursuant to legislation, regulation, or agreement and may only be used in the conduct of certain
programs, in the completion of specific work, or the purchase of tangible capital assets.  In
addition, certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to
be performed.  Revenue is recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred,
services performed, or the tangible assets are acquired.

Tax revenue is recognized when it is authorized and in the period for which the tax is levied. Tax
revenue reported relates to property taxes.

(H) LAND HELD FOR RESALE

Land held for resale is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost includes
amounts for land acquisition and improvements to prepare the land for sale or servicing.

(I) LIABILITY FOR CONTAMINATED SITES

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an
environmental standard.  The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries.  A liability for
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when all the following criteria are met:

i. an environmental standard exists;

ii. contamination exceeds the environmental standard;

iii. the City:

is directly responsible; or 

accepts responsibility; and 

iv. a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

A liability for contaminated sites has not been accrued for as of December 31, 2019. 

(J) USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year.  These estimates and assumptions,
including employee benefits payable, taxation assessment appeals, legal claims provisions,
liability for contaminated sites, the valuation of tangible capital assets and their related useful
lives and amortization, are based on management's best information and judgement and may
differ significantly from future actual results.
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3. OPERATIONS OF SCHOOL BOARDS AND THE REGION OF WATERLOO

Further to note (2) (a) (iii), the taxation, other revenues, and requisitions of the School Boards and
the Regional Municipality of Waterloo are comprised of the following: 

4. TRUST FUNDS

Trust funds administered by the City amounting to $10,741,563 ($10,215,131 in 2018), have not been
included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position nor have their operations been 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. The trust funds 
under administration are composed of the following: 

2019 

2018 

School 
Boards

Region of 
Waterloo

Taxation and user charges 66,542,976$        164,196,184$      
Share of payment in lieu of taxes 80,399 691,590 
Amounts requisitioned 66,623,375$        164,887,774$      

 Balance, beginning 
of year 

 Receipts  Expenditures Balance, 
end of year

Cemetery Care and Maintenance Fund 6,108,409$              506,936$              164,419$              6,450,926 
Cemetery Care and Maintenance Monuments 548,525 30,477 14,577 564,425 
Cemetery Charges Prepaid 3,204,173 213,236 138,071 3,279,338 
Election Surplus 4,155 109 - 4,264 
Arthur White Scholarship Fund 15,444 392 400 15,436 
C.I.T.C. Training Cambridge 16,760 439 - 17,199 
Prepaid Rent 9,884 259 - 10,143 
School of Architecture Bursary 52,903 1,386 - 54,289 
Ancient Mariners Canoe Club Fund 20,457 7,374 - 27,831 
Allan Reuter Centre Renovation 21,768 10,669 2,562 29,875 
Fiddlesticks Neighbourhood Association 120,539 64,319 - 184,858 
Cambridge Rowing Club 1,458 38 - 1,496 
David Durward Centre 33,353 6,970 4,296 36,027 
G.E. (Ted) Wake Lounge Seniors Fund 13,313 349 - 13,662 
Arts Guild Improvement 43,445 7,790 - 51,235 
Cambridge Arts Guild 545 14 - 559 
Total 10,215,131$           850,757$              324,325$              10,741,563$  

 Balance, beginning 
of year 

 Receipts  Expenditures Balance, 
end of year

Cemetery Care and Maintenance Fund 5,831,490$              430,051$              153,132$              6,108,409$  
Cemetery Care and Maintenance Monuments 530,875 31,492 13,842 548,525 
Cemetery Charges Prepaid 3,106,790 230,036 132,653 3,204,173 
Election Surplus 4,050 105 - 4,155 
Arthur White Scholarship Fund 15,015 829 400 15,444 
C.I.T.C. Training Cambridge 16,341 419 - 16,760 
Prepaid Rent 9,637 247 - 9,884 
School of Architecture Bursary 51,582 1,321 - 52,903 
Ancient Mariners Canoe Club Fund 27,280 1,177 8,000 20,457 
Allan Reuter Centre Renovation 23,662 603 2,497 21,768 
Fiddlesticks Neighbourhood Association 98,003 22,536 - 120,539 
Cambridge Rowing Club 1,423 35 - 1,458 
David Durward Centre 38,615 1,061 6,323 33,353 
G.E. (Ted) Wake Lounge Seniors Fund 12,980 333 - 13,313 
Arts Guild Improvement 35,972 7,473 - 43,445 
Cambridge Arts Guild 531 14 - 545 
Total 9,804,246$              727,732$              316,847$              10,215,131$  
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5. TAXES AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Taxes receivable and accounts receivable are reported net of a valuation allowance of $5,438,110
($5,438,110 in 2018) and $285,452 ($207,657 in 2018) respectively.  

6. INVESTMENTS

Investments are comprised of the following:

Marketable securities have a market value of $120,048,604 ($71,355,477 in 2018). 

On August 1, 2000, pursuant to requirements of the Ontario Government's Electricity Competition 
Act (Bill 35), the net assets of the Hydro Electric Commission of Cambridge and North Dumfries 
were transferred to Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. ("Energy Plus") and affiliated 
companies. Energy Plus and affiliates will carry on the former business of the Commission with all its 
rights, duties, obligations and responsibilities from the date of transfer. The City of Cambridge owns 
92.1% of Energy Plus and the change in the cost of the original investment by return of capital and 
its proportionate share of the consolidated operating gain of Energy Plus for the year ended 
December 31, 2019 is as follows (see note 2(a) (ii)): 

2019 2018
Investment in Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc.

Capital Stock 37,792,000$        37,792,000$         
Increase in equity since acquisition 51,449,216           48,384,128            

89,241,216           86,176,128            

Marketable securities 119,613,347        72,737,851            
Total investments 208,854,563$      158,913,979$       

2019 2018

Investment, beginning of year 86,176,128$         83,521,652$         
Increase in equity for year:

Share of net income for year 6,219,084             6,344,460             
Dividends received during year (3,153,996)            (3,689,984)            
Net increase for year 3,065,088             2,654,476             

Investment, end of year 89,241,216$         86,176,128$         
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6. INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED

The following table provides condensed financial information in respect of Energy Plus for its fiscal
2019 year: 

7. EMPLOYEE AND POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The City provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.  An
actuarial estimate of future liabilities has been completed and forms the basis for the estimated 
liability reported in these financial statements.  All liabilities were estimated by an actuarial update 
as at December 31, 2019. 

2019
(000's)

 2018
(000's) 

Financial position
Current assets 42,256$                46,975$  
Capital assets 181,121 171,646 
Goodwill 18,965 18,965 
Other assets 3,328 5,751 

Total assets 245,670 243,337 

Current liabilities 72,614 35,194 
Long-term liabilities 81,248 111,782 

Total liabilities 153,862 146,976 
Net assets 91,808 96,361 

Statement of operations
Revenues 234,183 226,540 
Operating expenses (226,851)               (216,910)               
Non-operating revenues (expenses) 1,361 (671) 
Payments in lieu of corporate income taxes (1,940) (2,071) 

Net income 6,753 6,888 
City's share of net income - 92.1% 6,220$  6,344$  

2019 2018 Change

Post-employment benefits 60,141,156$         59,179,742$         961,414$              
Sick leave benefits 6,831,414             6,929,604             (98,190) 
Workplace safety & insurance benefits 4,332,847             3,038,996             1,293,851             

71,305,417$         69,148,342$         2,157,075$           
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7. EMPLOYEE AND POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONTINUED

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City's accrued benefit obligations
for the accumulated sick leave and post-retirement benefit entitlements at December 31, 2019, are 
as follows: 

Sick leave and post-
retirement benefits 

Library post-
retirement benefits 

Future cost of long term debt 3.75% 4.00% 
Future inflation rates 1.75% 1.75% 
Future salaries escalations 2.75% 
Future dental premium rates escalations 3.75% 3.75% 
Future health care premium rates 

 2019 6.75% 6.42% 
 Declining by 2028 to 3.75% 2027 to 3.75% 

Information about the City's benefit plan is as follows: 

A) PENSION PLAN

The City makes contributions to the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System
("OMERS"), which is a multi-employer plan, on behalf of members of its staff.  The Plan is a
defined benefit plan, which specifies the amount of retirement benefit to be received by the
employees based on the lengths of service and rates of pay.  Employee contributions are
matched by the City.

The amount contributed to OMERS for 2019 was $5,918,336 ($5,902,724 in 2018) for current
service and is included as an expenditure on the consolidated statement of operations.

The OMERS pension plan has a deficit. The last available report for the OMERS plan was on
December 31, 2019. At that time the plan reported a $3.4 billion actuarial deficit (2018 – $4.2
billion), based on actuarial liabilities of $107.7 billion (2018 – $100.1 billion) and actuarial assets
of $104.3 billion (2018 –$95.9 billion). If actuarial surpluses are not available to offset the
existing deficit and subsidize future contributions, increases in contributions will be required in
the future.

2019 2018

Accrued Liability
Balance, beginning of the year 69,148,342$         67,204,799$         
     Current service cost 2,166,799             2,047,972             
     Plan amendment 1,117,560             - 
     Interest cost 2,769,259             2,708,310             
     Amortization of net actuarial loss (238,324)               272,851 
     Benefit payments (3,658,219)            (3,085,590)            

Balance, end of the year 71,305,417$         69,148,342$         
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7. EMPLOYEE AND POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - CONTINUED

B) POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The City makes available to qualifying employees who retire before the age of 65, the
opportunity to continue their coverage for such benefits as extended health and drugs, dental
care, and life insurance.  Coverage ceases at the age of 65 except for life insurance and
extended health and drugs. In addition, changes in assumptions, and experience gains and
losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over 11 years, which represents the expected
average remaining service life of the employee group.  Amortization is calculated beginning in
the year following the year of occurrence of the actuarial gains or losses.  In fiscal 2019, an
actuarial valuation report estimated the actuarial loss for the above mentioned post-retirement
benefits to be $5,834,084 which is being amortized at $486,174 per year.

The actuarial valuation report estimated the liability for the above mentioned employee future
benefits to be $60,141,156 ($59,179,742 in 2018) at year end based on present value of the
current obligation for past and current employees.

C) SICK LEAVE

Under the sick leave benefit plan, unused sick leave can accumulate and certain employees may
become entitled to a cash payment when they leave the City's employment.  In addition,
adjustments arising from the plan amendment, changes in assumptions, and experience gains
and losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over 12 years, which represents the expected
average remaining service life of the employee group.  Amortization is calculated beginning in
the year following the year of occurrence of the actuarial gains or losses.  In fiscal 2019, an
actuarial valuation report estimated the actuarial gain for the above mentioned sick leave to be
$1,710,318 which is being amortized at $131,563 per year.

The liability for these accumulated days based on an actuarial assessment, to the extent that
they have vested and could be taken in cash by an employee on termination or retirement,
amounted to $6,831,414 ($6,929,604 in 2018) at the end of the year.  An amount of $723,501
($648,224 in 2018) was paid to employees who either changed union groups or left the City's
employment during the current year.

The reserve fund was established to fund the cost of future employee benefits provided by the
City. The balance at the end of the year was $10,442,213 ($10,118,352 in 2018).

D) WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE

In 1996, in order to decrease workers' compensation expense, the City assumed the risk of
workers' compensation coverage.

The potential liability, based on an actuarial valuation update for all existing claims as at
December 31, 2019 amounted to $4,332,847 ($3,038,996 in 2018).

A self-insurance Reserve Fund for Workers' Compensation was established which, at December
31, 2019, amounted to $2,540,818 ($2,348,869 in 2018).  Premiums which otherwise could be
paid to Workplace Safety & Insurance Board are paid into the fund and workers' compensation
claims are charged to the fund.
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8. DEFERRED REVENUE - OBLIGATORY RESERVE FUNDS

A requirement of the Public Sector Accounting Board, of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada, is that obligatory reserves be reported as deferred revenue, as these are restricted revenue. 
This requirement is in place as provincial legislation restricts how these funds may be used and 
under certain circumstances these funds may be refunded.  Deferred revenue balances are as 
follows: 

9. LONG-TERM DEBT

The City has assumed the responsibility for the payment of principal and interest charges on certain
debt issued by the Region of Waterloo, which in fiscal 2019 amounted to $10,706,000 ($0 in 2018). 

The City has assumed responsibility for the payment of principal and interest charges on certain 
long-term debt issued by the Region of Waterloo.  At the end of the year, the total outstanding 
principal amount of this liability is $41,576,835 ($35,379,063 in 2018). This debt bears interest at 
rates ranging from 1.15% to 3.95% per annum.   

Principal repayments required over the next 5 years and thereafter are as follows: 

2020 -                $ 5,578,115 

2021 - 4,415,760 

2022 - 3,425,760 

2023 - 3,483,760 

2024- 3,550,760 

Thereafter -   21,122,680 

$41,576,835 

Interest charges for fiscal 2019 relating to long-term debt were $981,743 ($1,090,102 in 2018). 

The City has enacted and passed by-laws authorizing the issue of debentures, not to exceed $37.46 
million, for the rehabilitation of existing assets and construction or purchase of new assets 
contained in the Capital Funding Program. 

2019 2018

Revenue
          Development charges and user fees 13,524,575$         7,268,891$           
          Gas tax funding 8,053,516             4,037,045             
          Investment income 84,610 12,841 

21,662,701           11,318,777           
Deferred revenue recognized and other adjustments (9,969,101)            (12,628,345)          
Change in deferred revenue 11,693,600           (1,309,568)            

Deferred revenue, beginning of year 31,082,922           32,392,490           
Deferred revenue, end of year 42,776,522           31,082,922           

Represented as follows:
          Development charges 31,137,395           24,542,371           
          Recreational land 176,429 (244,199)               
          Building permits 3,387,208             2,700,398             
          Gas tax funding 8,075,490             4,084,352             

42,776,522$         31,082,922$         

cambridge.ca 
49



10. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

(a) During the year, roads and underground networks contributed to the City totalled $675,000
($6,524,773 in 2018) and were capitalized at their fair value at the time of receipt.

(b) Amortization expense for the year amounts to $20,308,531 ($16,585,287 in 2018).

11. GENERAL INSURANCE COVERAGE

In order to decrease insurance premiums, the City has undertaken a portion of the risk through
increased deductibles.  The deductibles generally range up to $50,000 depending on the types of
claims.  Insurance coverage is in place for claims in excess of these deductibles up to various policy
limits.

The City has made provision for a Reserve for Self-Insurance for various types of insurance, the
balance of which at December 31, 2019 amounted to $2,183,498 ($2,261,423 in 2018), and is
reported in Note 14 under Reserves.  The City budgets annually for claims related to self-insurance
and the difference between budgeted and actual claims during the year is drawn from the reserve
fund.  In 2019 the amount drawn from the reserve was $Nil ($Nil in 2018).  Claims for all forms of
self-insurance during the year amounting to $391,491 ($727,757 in 2018), including adjusters' fees
and costs, are reported as an expenditure on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus.

The City has an agreement with members of the Waterloo Region municipalities to purchase
property damage and public liability insurance on a group basis and share a retained level of risk.
The members pay an annual levy to fund insurance coverage, losses, and contribute to a surplus.
The pool has purchased insurance to fund losses above a pre-determined deductible and any losses
above a pre-determined total in any year.

Land Land 
improvements

Buildings Leasehold 
improvements

Infrastructure Information 
technology

Machinery & 
equipment

Vehicles Total

2019
Cost

Balance, beginning of year 91,946,840$         83,307,013$         155,313,787$       4,438,819$            462,895,510$       13,235,394$         9,375,814$            17,436,218$         837,949,395$      
Additions 2,519,040              3,218,848              23,915,357            337,718 47,837,676            3,835,710              10,316,151            4,726,354              96,706,854           
Disposals - 230,513 - - 2,038,973              821,690 523,259 1,410,447              5,024,882             

Cost, end of year 94,465,880           86,295,348           179,229,144        4,776,537             508,694,213        16,249,414           19,168,706           20,752,125           929,631,367        

Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year - 40,111,989 72,222,373            1,008,158              202,162,796         6,292,514              5,332,666              10,721,635            337,852,131        
Disposals - 230,513 - - 1,627,985              821,690 519,904 561,508 3,761,600             
Amortization expense - 1,985,591 3,774,514              153,496 8,184,324              2,378,204              2,621,546              1,210,856              20,308,531           

Accumulated amortization, end of year - 41,867,067 75,996,887           1,161,654             208,719,135        7,849,028             7,434,308             11,370,983           354,399,062        

Assets under construction - - - - - - - - 48,135,311           

Net book value, end of year 94,465,880$        44,428,281$        103,232,257$      3,614,883$           299,975,078$      8,400,386$           11,734,398$        9,381,142$           623,367,616$      

Land Land 
improvements

Buildings Leasehold 
improvements

Infrastructure Information 
technology

Machinery & 
equipment

Vehicles Total

2018
Cost

Balance, beginning of year 91,946,840$         83,307,013$         155,313,787$       4,438,819$            435,819,921$       5,015,363$            7,482,770$            17,357,021$         800,681,534$      
Additions - - - - 29,106,017            8,220,031              1,893,044              942,214 40,161,306           
Disposals - - - - 2,030,428              - - 863,017 2,893,445             

Cost, end of year 91,946,840           83,307,013           155,313,787        4,438,819             462,895,510        13,235,394           9,375,814             17,436,218           837,949,395        

Accumulated amortization
Balance, beginning of year - 38,206,165 68,725,053            862,666 196,389,312         4,449,482              4,730,122              10,454,774            323,817,574        
Disposals - - - - 1,719,424              - - 831,306 2,550,730             
Amortization expense - 1,905,824 3,497,320              145,492 7,492,908              1,843,032              602,544 1,098,167              16,585,287           

Accumulated amortization, end of year - 40,111,989 72,222,373           1,008,158             202,162,796        6,292,514             5,332,666             10,721,635           337,852,131        

Assets under construction - - - - - - - - 118,262,040        

Net book value, end of year 91,946,840$        43,195,024$        83,091,414$        3,430,661$           260,732,714$      6,942,880$           4,043,148$           6,714,583$           618,359,304$      
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12. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The City is involved in several legal suits of varying dollar amounts, the outcome of which is not
presently determinable.  No provision for possible liability has been recorded in these financial
statements.

In the event the City is found liable, any amounts not recoverable from City's insurers will be
adjusted against future revenues.

13. BUDGET FIGURES, UNAUDITED

Budget figures reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus are
based on the 2019 municipal operating and water/wastewater budgets as approved by Council on
March 4, 2019 and February 21, 2019 respectively, and include subsequent amendments.

Approved budget figures have been reclassified and adjusted for the purposes of these financial
statements to comply with Public Sector Accounting Board ("PSAB") reporting requirements.  The
chart below reconciles the approved operating budgets to the amended budget figures:

Budget Amount

Approved operating budget revenues 185,183,400$      
Budget amendments and reallocations
PSAB reporting adjustments:

Dividends from Cambridge and North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc. (3,007,000)             
Contributions from reserves and reserve funds (4,204,000)             

Net operating budget revenues 177,972,400$      

Approved operating budget expenses 185,183,400$      
Budget amendments and reallocations
PSAB reporting adjustments:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 16,585,287            
Non-tangible capital asset expenditures 4,592,487              
Unfunded accrual for employee future benefit obligation 1,943,543              
Contribution to reserves and reserve funds (23,375,500)          
Debt principal repayments (5,199,100)             

Net operating budget expenses 179,730,117        

Net expenses before other income (1,757,717)$         

cambridge.ca 
51



14. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Accumulated surplus consists of individual surpluses, reserve funds and reserves as follows:

2019 2018
(Note 15)

Reserve funds
Capital Works 5,434,953$           3,733,242$            
Capital Works Debt Retirement 970,988 1,837,744              
Capital Works Committed 1,166,622             1,955,399              
Waterwater Capital 8,846,916             12,170,642            
Wastewater Rate Stabilization 3,219,358             3,225,076              
Water System Capital 9,397,207             7,571,308              
Water Rate Stablization 3,398,519             3,420,016              
Heritage Conservation 69,147 72,065 
Cemetery 525,681 756,676 
Equipment 4,305,109             3,461,349              
Water Meter Replacement - 2,258,155 
Facility Maintenance 4,398,737             4,620,874              
Archives 39,209 38,786 
Election 272,101 188,652 
Winter Reg Road Maintenance - 140,347 
Winter Maintenance 22,326 128,426 
Sports Field Revitalization - 431,317 
Soccer Facility Capital 216,334 182,770 
Library 694,809 697,564 
Public Art 192,076 135,507 
Legal - 41,078 
Energy Conservation 1,590,807             1,447,818 
Economic Development 10,594,263           19,442,300 
Cash in Lieu of Parking 25,322 25,049 
Self Insurance 2,183,498             2,261,423              
Future Employee Benefits 10,442,213           10,118,352            
Workplace Safety and Insurance 2,540,818             2,348,869              
Affordable Housing 17,045 - 
Replacement Tree Planting 129,572 - 
Municipal Accomodation Tax 161,086 - 
Core Areas Transformation 20,133,532           - 
Jacob Hespeler Field Capital 226,834 - 
Total reserves funds 91,215,082           82,710,804           
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14. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS - CONTINUED

15. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain of the prior year's comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year's
presentation.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World
Health Organization and has had a significant financial and market impact. Markets are prone to
volatility and the COVID-19 virus has presented many uncertainties and is threatening the outlook
for future global trade and GDP as well as disrupting the abilities of some organizations to operate.

At this time these factors present uncertainty over future cash flows and may cause significant
changes to the operations and financial position of the organization. An estimate of the financial
effect is not practicable at this time.

2019 2018
(Note 15)

Reserves
Hydro Dividend Stablization 2,049,432$           1,239,003$           
Training and Development - 697,486 
Contaminated Sites Grant Program 547,980 497,980 
Building Revitalization Program 218,950 301,022 
Rate Stablization 3,222,606             3,267,310             

Total reserves 6,038,968             6,002,801             
 Total reserves funds and reserves 97,254,050           88,713,605           

Surpluses
Invested in tangible capital assets 623,367,616         618,359,304         
Invested in repair and replacement of assets 35,877,954           16,893,410           
Investment in Government Business Enterprise 89,241,216           86,176,128           
Sanitary Sewage Systems 862,490 2,051,242             
Water Supply System 711,999 565,900 
General revenue fund 969,225 4,166,736             
Library board 620,111 115,785 
Business improvements areas 72,851 10,768 
Land held for resale - 6,519,669 
Amounts to be recovered

Employee benefit and post-employment liabilities (71,305,417)         (69,148,342) 
Long-term debt (41,576,835)         (35,379,063) 

Total surplus 638,841,210         630,331,537         

Accumulated surplus 736,095,260$      719,045,142$      
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17. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The City of Cambridge is a diversified municipal government institution that provides a wide range
of services to its citizens, including fire, road, water distribution, sewer collection/conveyance, storm
sewer, libraries, and community services.

Segmented information has been prepared by major functional classification of activities provided,
consistent with the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and
provincially legislated requirements.

For each reported segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly
attributable to the segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 2.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 (NOTE 15) 

 General 
Government 

 Protection 
Services 

 Transportation 
Services 

 Environmental 
Services 

 Health Services  Social and Family 
Services 

 Recreation and 
Cultural Services 

 Planning and 
Development 

Total

Revenue
Taxation 27,621,842$         25,082,600$         10,578,100$         885,296$               353,800$               385,500$               22,009,100$         3,547,000$            90,463,238$         
User fees and charges 1,886,062              4,381,180              2,509,123              64,956,470            1,006,346              452,889 5,055,584              824,160 81,071,814            
Penalties and interest on taxes 2,978,059              - - - - - - - 2,978,059              
Investment income 2,592,498              - - - - - - - 2,592,498              
Fines (11,336) 100,807 728,592 - - - - - 818,063 
Government transfers - Canada 54,634 - - - - - 253,804 - 308,438 
Government transfers - Ontario 242,479 - 2,930 - - 1,044,807              84,286 10,409 1,384,911 
Deferred revenue earned 32,000 - 160,000 - - - 10,000 - 202,000 
Land sales and other 183,719 (848,939)                278,806 (40,807) 425,230 - 2,165,705 4,801,696              6,965,410 
Total revenue 35,579,957           28,715,648           14,257,551           65,800,959           1,785,376             1,883,196             29,578,479           9,183,265             186,784,431        

Operating Expenses
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 18,124,056            24,977,407            8,414,693              5,915,721              1,165,503              1,455,767              16,312,844            3,357,785              79,723,776            
Long term debt charges 97,933 - 211,834 138,991 - - 532,985 - 981,743 
Materials 6,975,719              2,501,448              6,151,581 3,348,842              63,871 179,735 5,149,407              435,277 24,805,880 
Contracted services 3,776,897              1,676,498              2,773,205 36,585,406            124,422 141,146 3,476,090              558,559 49,112,223 
Rents and financial expenses 5,661,979              132,278 216,190 1,539,272              - - 29,675 68,287 7,647,681 
External transfers 933,378 - 4,700 - - - 1,729,043              628,081 3,295,202 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 2,725,057              573,203 4,931,636 6,544,177              35,176 - 5,499,282 - 20,308,531 
Interfunctional adjustments (6,472,308)             152,746 (294,473) 5,564,130              180,521 5,049 910,297 (45,962) - 

Total expenses 31,822,711           30,013,580           22,409,366           59,636,539           1,569,493             1,781,697             33,639,623           5,002,027             185,875,036        
Net income (expenses) before other income 3,757,246$           (1,297,932)$         (8,151,815)$         6,164,420$           215,883$              101,499$              (4,061,144)$         4,181,238$           909,395$              

 General 
Government 

 Protection 
Services 

 Transportation 
Services 

 Environmental 
Services 

 Health Services  Social and Family 
Services 

 Recreation and 
Cultural Services 

 Planning and 
Development 

Total

Revenue
Taxation 26,121,590$         24,280,905$         11,400,416$         897,362$               322,581$               433,564$               21,262,930$         3,264,739$            87,984,087$         
User fees and charges 2,300,578              4,328,566              2,267,173              63,360,642            926,756 464,157 4,092,134              887,224 78,627,230            
Penalties and interest on taxes 2,614,718              - - - - - - - 2,614,718              
Investment income 3,017,201              - - - - - - - 3,017,201              
Fines 482 191,999 1,240,848              - - - - - 1,433,329 
Government transfers - Canada 37,397 - - 3,360 - - 101,568 - 142,325 
Government transfers - Ontario 185,300 - 7,500 - - 1,019,020              231,543 74,638 1,518,001 
Deferred revenue earned - - 153,200 - - - - - 153,200 
Land sales and other 221,019 - (68,425) 342,156 320,059 - 1,055,357 2,712,472              4,582,638 
Total revenue 34,498,285           28,801,470           15,000,712           64,603,520           1,569,396             1,916,741             26,743,532           6,939,073             180,072,729        

Operating Expenses
Salaries, wages and employee benefits 20,521,062            23,579,984            8,581,833              5,991,309              1,068,546              1,506,783              15,086,337            3,079,074              79,414,928            
Long term debt charges 105,644 - 241,787 155,957 - - 586,714 - 1,090,102 
Materials 5,321,056              2,677,189              5,023,504 4,862,407              65,531 157,511 5,610,693              865,546 24,583,437 
Contracted services 3,195,383              796,566 2,611,454 34,916,626            96,790 190,338 3,563,411              376,111 45,746,679 
Rents and financial expenses 1,796,403              132,278 178,188 230,306 - - 28,405 26,911 2,392,491 
External transfers 468,319 - 4,700 - - - 1,644,086              1,069,303              3,186,408 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 2,380,162              408,016 4,594,250 5,726,957              30,949 - 3,444,953 - 16,585,287 
Intefunctional adjustments (6,518,745)             203,900 (386,360) 6,054,996              189,462 8,100 423,352 25,295 - 

Total expenses 27,269,284           27,797,933           20,849,356           57,938,558           1,451,278             1,862,732             30,387,951           5,442,240             172,999,332        
Net income (expenses) before other income 7,229,001$           1,003,537$           (5,848,644)$         6,664,962$           118,118$              54,009$                (3,644,419)$         1,496,833$           7,073,397$           
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Statistics 

GENERAL STATISTICS 

TAXATION STATISTICS 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Population at the end of the year* 136,810 135,060 133,900 129,920 134,900 
Area in acres at the end of the year* 28,556 28,556 28,556 28,556 28,556 
Employees - continuous full-time positions** 646 643 610 609 608 
Number of households* 49,920 49,160 48,640 48,235 48,700 
Value of permits 456,879,030             235,851,648             387,235,986             356,417,228              185,099,268              
Building permits issued:*

Residential properties (6 units or less) 1,198 623 500 386 247 
Multi-residential properties (7 units or more) 5 162 3 12 5 
All other property classes 439 185 569 961 1,023 

Total number of building permits issued 1,642 970 1,072 1,359 1,275 
* Source: Development & Infrastructure Department, City of Cambridge. 
** Source: Corporate Services Department, City of Cambridge. Positions are stated in either full time or part time equivalents.

Taxable assessments (thousand dollars) 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Residential, multi residential & farm 14,472,582$             14,228,810$             14,061,956$             12,014,400$              11,569,032$              
Commercial - all classes 2,635,635 2,618,501 2,585,768 2,178,299 2,122,959 
Industrial - all classes 911,268 896,838 917,196 863,330 831,295 
Pipeline & managed forests 34,634 34,239 34,026 29,970 29,359 
Total taxable assessments 18,054,119$            17,778,388$            17,598,946$            15,085,999$             14,552,645$             

Taxes receivable 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Taxes receivable, beginning of year 17,025,989$             15,624,234$             19,036,695$             18,787,087$              22,597,491$              
Plus:

Amounts added to tax bills for collection purposes 
only 2,840,634 2,142,595 2,134,119 2,496,174 2,259,257 
Tax amounts levied in the year 285,400,845             277,440,284             268,428,961             259,710,383              253,039,388              
Current year penalties & interest 2,978,059 2,614,718 3,020,865 2,957,432 4,485,310 
Adjustment for allowance - 1,267,419 - - 

Less:
Total cash collections 286,508,812             277,217,824             272,115,054             259,368,735              260,419,467              
Tax adjustments before allowances 3,719,857 3,951,904 6,530,299 5,900,565 3,298,120 
Tax adjustments not applied to taxation (362,422) (373,886) (381,528) (354,919) (123,228) 

Taxes receivable, end of year 18,379,280$            17,025,989$            15,624,234$            19,036,695$             18,787,087$             

Tax levy 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

City of Cambridge 89,563,226$             86,267,469$             81,715,780$             78,651,305$              75,632,732$              
Region of Waterloo 126,879,126             121,431,155             116,900,478             112,777,470              109,019,998              
Education 65,667,071               65,243,477               65,738,213               65,214,391 64,728,234 
Total tax levy 282,109,424$          272,942,101$          264,354,471$          256,643,166$           249,380,963$           

Tax arrears 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Tax arrears per capita 134.3 126.1 116.7 146.5 139.3 
Percentage of current levy 6.44% 6.14% 5.82% 7.33% 7.42%
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PRINCIPAL CORPORATE TAXPAYERS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Principal corporate taxpayers
2019

Assessed value

Toyota Motor Manufacturing 202,812,411$            
Devcam Properties Ltd. 178,335,001$            
Bridgecam Shopping Centres 165,889,250$            
CP Reit Ont Prop Ltd Trustee 83,350,000$              
Waterloo Regional 65,424,125$              
Lena Crescent Holdings Inc. 57,386,364$              
Centurion Apartment 40,701,250$              
Killam Investments Inc. 40,475,503$              
Riocan Holdings Inc. 40,169,501$              
TSO ATL-TOR Propco GP, LLC 39,454,700$              

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Financial assets
Cash & cash equivalents 60,544,881$             73,142,262$             75,951,586$             48,509,280$             47,621,068$             
Taxes & grants-in-lieu 18,379,281               17,025,989               15,624,234               19,036,695               18,787,087               
Trade & other receivables 16,646,298               14,817,977               15,974,045               14,897,363               12,533,911               
Land held for resale - 6,519,669 11,440,366               13,940,682               13,423,828               
Investments 208,854,563             158,913,979             154,327,582             149,613,243             148,512,302             

304,425,023            270,419,876            273,317,813            245,997,263            240,878,196            
Liabilities

Accounts payable & accrued liabilities 34,693,309               33,892,732               45,194,599               31,739,139               32,293,484               
Employee future benefits 71,305,417               69,148,342               67,204,799               64,942,725               60,636,966               
Deferred revenue 46,382,341               33,194,696               32,392,490               30,346,557               28,583,426               
Long-term debt 41,576,835               35,379,063               39,800,762               26,178,753               21,710,155               

193,957,902            171,614,833            184,592,650            153,207,174            143,224,031            

Net financial assets 110,467,121            98,805,043               88,725,163               92,790,089               97,654,165               
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets 623,367,616             618,359,304             590,690,703             560,670,532             540,694,384             
Inventories of supplies 763,188 867,491 508,035 533,012 867,236 
Prepaid expenses 1,497,335 1,013,304 1,655,589 1,216,740 885,090 

625,628,139            620,240,099            592,854,327            562,420,284            542,446,710            
Accumulated surplus 736,095,260$          719,045,142$          681,579,490$          655,210,373$          640,100,875$          
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION STATISTICS

Tangible capital assets - net book value 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Net book value

Land 94,465,880$             91,946,840$             91,946,840$             90,054,844$              89,638,236$              
Land improvements 44,428,281               43,195,024               45,100,848               46,831,070 37,135,238 
Buildings 103,232,257             83,091,414               86,588,734               88,625,522 91,241,989 
Leasehold improvements 3,614,883 3,430,661 3,576,153 3,721,644 3,867,136 
Infrastructure 299,975,078             260,732,714             239,430,609             244,095,043              209,762,636              
Information technology 8,400,386 6,942,880 565,881 372,487 581,894 
Machinery & equipment 11,734,398               4,043,148 2,752,648 3,228,390 3,264,325 
Vehicles 9,381,142 6,714,583 6,902,247 8,037,547 8,231,221 
Assets under construction 48,135,311               118,262,040             113,826,743             75,703,985 96,971,709 

Net book value 623,367,616$          618,359,304$          590,690,703$          560,670,532$           540,694,384$           

Tangible capital assets - activity 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Additions & disposals

Assets - beginning of year 837,949,395             800,681,534             795,927,175             735,495,736              690,737,371              
Additions 96,706,854               40,161,306               6,568,595 61,731,413 46,900,609 
Disposals  & write downs (5,024,882) (2,893,445) (1,814,236) (1,299,974) (2,142,244) 

Assets - end of year 929,631,367$          837,949,395$          800,681,534$          795,927,175$           735,495,736$           

Accumulated amortization
Accumulated amortization - beginning of year 337,852,131       323,817,574       310,960,628       291,773,061        276,763,819        
Current year expense 20,308,531               16,585,287               14,634,716               20,357,745 16,784,868 
Accumulated amortization on disposals (3,761,600) (2,550,730) (1,777,770) (1,170,178) (1,775,626) 

Accumulated amortization - end of year 354,399,062$          337,852,131$          323,817,574$          310,960,628$           291,773,061$           

Assets under construction 48,135,311$            118,262,040$          113,826,743$          75,703,985$             96,971,709$             

Net book value 623,367,616$          618,359,304$          590,690,703$          560,670,532$           540,694,384$           

Long-term debt 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Outstanding debt by function

Roads 7,735,276$               6,586,284$               7,620,289$               5,040,864$                 5,023,684$                 
Program Support 4,648,620 5,273,517 5,890,345 6,500,000 
Parking 1,029,609 1,273,003 1,442,260 1,609,438 1,775,000 
Water distribution/transmission 13,220,342               5,462,815 6,189,046 6,901,246 7,601,581 
Parks 1,697,920 1,825,418 2,021,897 498,699 550,000 
Recreational facilities 1,783,588 2,959,786 4,102,925 5,215,505 6,299,891 
Library 11,195,480               11,682,240               12,169,000               - 
Museums 266,000 316,000 365,000 413,000 460,000 

Total outstanding debt by function 41,576,835$            35,379,063$            39,800,762$            26,178,752$             21,710,155$             

Outstanding debt - tax levy vs. water and sewer user fees supported debt
Tax levy supported debt 28,356,493               29,916,248               33,611,716               19,277,507 14,108,574 
Water and Sewer user fees supported debt 13,220,342               5,462,815 6,189,046 6,901,246 7,601,581 

Total outstanding debt - tax levy vs. water and sewer 
user fees supported debt 41,576,835$            35,379,063$            39,800,762$            26,178,753$             21,710,155$             

Long-term debt per capita
Population at the end of the year 136,810 135,060 133,900 129,920 134,900 
Total Long-term debt per capita 304$  262$  297$  201$  161$  

Principal payments
Tax levy supported debt 3,765,755 3,695,468 2,809,791 2,081,068 1,612,201 
Water and Sewer user fees supported debt 742,473 726,231 712,200 700,334 402,387 

Total principal payments 4,508,228$              4,421,699$              3,521,991$              2,781,402$                2,014,588$                

Interest payments
Tax levy supported debt 842,752 934,145 485,608 408,161 347,189 
Water and Sewer user fees supported debt 138,991 155,957 170,772 183,510 82,608 

Total interest payments 981,743$  1,090,102$              656,380$  591,671$  429,798$  

Legal debt limit 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Estimated annual repayment limit* 41,343,658$             39,296,077$             37,292,832$             35,760,022$             34,934,245$             
* The debt limit is based on the Financial Information Return.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 

Revenue by source 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Taxation 90,463,238$             87,984,087$             82,731,507$             79,228,209$             77,257,657$             
User fees & charges 81,071,814               78,627,230               74,596,561               74,180,057               68,909,763               
Penalties & interest on taxes 2,978,059 2,614,718 3,020,865 2,957,433 3,090,288 
Investment income 2,592,498 3,017,201 1,123,204 882,517 891,577 
Fines 818,063 1,433,329 1,151,089 1,080,487 1,153,798 
Government transfers - Canada 308,438 142,325 78,156 72,000 72,000 
Government transfers - Ontario 1,384,911 1,518,001 1,394,908 1,457,149 1,499,141 
Deferred revenue earned 202,000 153,200 195,500 190,700 929,748 
Land sales & other 6,965,410 4,582,638 4,767,980 3,449,664 3,414,026 
Total revenues 186,784,431$          180,072,729$          169,059,770$          163,498,216$          157,217,998$          

Other income
Grants & transfers related to capital 

Deferred revenue earned 3,757,934 7,855,922 6,853,416 1,438,568 3,115,027 
Government transfers - Ontario 58,509 1,572,632 - - - 
Government transfers - Federal 4,225,780 6,579,991 4,421,010 6,127,352 5,119,426 
Donated tangible capital assets 675,000 6,524,773 2,588,156 15,990,209               12,542,520               

Share of net income for the year from Cambridge & 
North Dumfries Energy Plus Inc.

6,219,084 6,344,460 7,302,609 5,903,610 5,571,129 

Interest earned on reserves 1,204,416 1,514,477 1,254,021 1,210,129 1,208,790 
Total other income 16,140,723$            30,392,255$            22,419,212$            30,669,868$            27,556,892$            

Total revenues & other income 202,925,154$          210,464,984$          191,478,982$          194,168,084$          184,774,890$          

Expenses by function 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Salaries, wages & employee benefits 79,723,776$             79,414,928$             76,066,484$             72,853,444$             70,992,112$             
Long-term debt charges 981,743 1,090,102 656,380 591,671 429,798 
Materials 24,805,880               24,583,437               27,400,915               62,912,838               42,689,993               
Contracted services 49,112,223               45,746,679               41,749,650               18,356,572               33,897,607               
Rents & financial expenses 7,647,681 2,392,491 451,306 264,579 234,751 
External transfers 3,295,202 3,186,408 4,150,414 2,251,805 2,001,562 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 20,308,531               16,585,287               14,634,716               20,357,745               16,784,868               

Total expenses by function 185,875,036$          172,999,332$          165,109,865$          177,588,654$          167,030,690$          

Expenses by object 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

General government 31,822,711$             27,269,284$             26,770,839$             25,001,480$             22,398,367$             
Protection to persons & property 30,013,580               27,797,933               25,660,531               25,452,248               25,156,955               
Transportation services 22,409,366               20,849,356               19,132,800               24,298,127               22,609,197               
Environmental services 59,636,539               57,938,558               54,462,792               63,714,869               57,485,116               
Health services 1,569,493 1,451,278 1,434,431 1,363,943 1,345,081 
Social & family services 1,781,697 1,862,732 2,266,070 2,507,508 2,556,984 
Recreation & cultural services 33,639,623               30,387,951               31,371,017               31,186,689               31,743,288               
Planning & development 5,002,027 5,442,240 4,011,385 4,063,790 3,735,702 
Total expenses by object 185,875,036$          172,999,332$          165,109,865$          177,588,654$          167,030,690$          

Annual surplus 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Annual surplus 17,050,118$             37,465,652$             26,369,117$             16,579,430$              17,744,200$              
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ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, RESERVES, AND RESERVE FUNDS 

Reserve funds 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Capital Works 5,434,953 3,733,242 3,076,443 1,757,184 1,799,597 
Capital Works Debt Retirement 970,988 1,837,744 1,341,598 2,184,833 840,077 
Capital Works Committed 1,166,622 1,955,399 1,885,588 2,627,786 2,467,762 
Wastewater Capital 8,846,916 12,170,642               13,020,069               12,457,872               7,643,977 
Wastewater Rate Stabilization 3,219,358 3,225,076 3,062,005 2,922,682 2,802,850 
Water System Capital 9,397,207 7,571,308 3,582,717 2,275,624 2,624,417 
Water Rate Stablization 3,398,519 3,420,016 3,253,104 1,998,224 974,871 
Heritage Conservation 69,147 72,065 70,655 1,641,262 1,593,498 
Cemetery 525,681 756,676 745,150 544,813 296,621 
Equipment 4,305,109 3,461,349 3,279,871 3,225,192 2,700,250 
Water Meter Replacement - 2,258,155 1,957,583 1,642,191 2,080,479 
Facility Maintenance 4,398,737 4,620,874 2,853,361 1,656,106 1,155,884 
Archives 39,209 38,786 38,022 37,286 36,522 
Election 272,101 188,652 406,436 298,925 192,894 
Winter Reg Road Maintenance - 140,347 137,581 134,918 132,154 
Winter Maintenance 22,326 128,426 39,906 43,110 229,145 
Sports Field Revitalization - 431,317 367,397 248,781 241,712 
Soccer Facility Capital 216,334 182,770 166,591 136,934 173,757 
Library 694,809 697,564 683,820 661,815 564,033 
Public Art 192,076 135,507 79,919 78,372 48,903 
Legal - 41,078 40,269 830 70,260 
Energy Conservation 1,590,807 1,447,818 1,308,541 1,220,042 946,519 
Economic Development 10,594,263               19,442,300               12,584,250               10,771,990               11,495,150               
Cash in Lieu of Parking 25,322 25,049 24,555 24,080 23,587 
Self Insurance 2,183,498 2,261,423 2,194,908 2,265,718 2,199,878 
Future Employee Benefits 10,442,213               10,118,352               9,727,020 10,121,707               9,677,873 
Workplace Safety and Insurance 2,540,818 2,348,869 2,223,760 2,417,133 2,301,796 
Affordable Housing 17,045 - - - - 
Replacement Tree Planting 129,572 - - - - 
Municipal Accomodation Tax 161,086 - - - - 
Core Areas Transformation 20,133,532               - - - - 
Jacob Hespeler Field Capital 226,834 - - - - 

Total reserve funds 91,215,082$            82,710,804$            68,151,120$            63,395,410$            55,314,464$            

Reserves 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Hydro Dividend Stablization 2,049,432 1,239,003 1,182,725 1,899,439 2,944,698 
Training and Development - 697,486 927,786 1,256,856 1,255,082 
Contaminated Sites Grant Program 547,980 497,980 447,980 559,980 509,980 
Building Revitalization Program 218,950 301,022 411,390 353,381 350,031 
Rate Stablization 3,222,606 3,267,310 3,197,496 2,988,205 2,928,022 

Total reserves 6,038,968$               6,002,801$               6,167,377$               7,057,861$               7,987,813$               
Total reserves & reserve funds 97,254,050$            88,713,605$            74,318,497$            70,453,271$            63,302,277$            

Accumulated surplus 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Reserves & reserve funds 97,254,050$             88,713,605$             74,318,497$             70,453,271$             63,302,277$             
Invested in tangible capital assets 623,367,616             618,359,304             590,690,703             560,670,532             540,694,384             
Invested in repair & replacement of assets 35,877,954               16,893,410               27,864,040               21,743,958               29,015,787               
Invested in Government Business Enterprise 89,241,216               86,176,128               83,521,652               79,236,333               75,879,960               
Sanitary Sewage Systems 862,490 2,096,880 (24,849) - - 
Water Supply System 711,999 578,608 (3,078) - - 
General revenue fund 969,225 4,108,390 581,241 209,288 60,184 
Library board 620,111 115,785 102,644 4,083 6,789 
Business improvements areas 72,851 10,768 93,835 73,704 64,787 
Land held for resale - 6,519,669 11,440,366               13,940,682               13,423,828               
Amounts to be recovered

Employee benefits and post-employment liabilities (71,305,417)              (69,148,342)              (67,204,799)              (64,942,725)              (60,636,966)              
Long-term debt (41,576,835)              (35,379,063)              (39,800,762)              (26,178,753)              (21,710,155)              

Accumulated surplus 736,095,260$          719,045,142$          681,579,490$          655,210,373$          640,100,875$          
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